IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

MILDRED JAYE,

Petitioner

v.

ROYAL SAXON, INC.

Respondent

Case No. 91,652

4 DCA Case No. 97-1864

Palm Beach L.T. Case No. CL 96-4916

DEC 8 1697 1

COURT

W.C.

Same Light

ON CERTIFIED CONFLICT REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Edward A. Marod, Esq. Florida Bar No. 238961 Counsel for Appellant, Mildred Jaye.

EDWARD A. MAROD, P.A. Post Office Box 3606 West Palm Beach, FL 33402-3606 (561) 832-0050

Florida Supreme Court Case No.

Certificate of Interested Persons for Purposes of Recusal

- 1. Mildred Jaye (defendant/petitioner)

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I.	WHETHER A PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI SEEKING REVIEW OF A TRIAL COURT ORDER STRIKING A DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL IS WITHIN THE JURISDICTION OF A DISTRICT COURT	
	OF APPEAL	5.
Conclusi	ion	14.
Certifica	te of Service	14.

*

<u>,</u>

-iii-

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES		PAGES
Adler v. Selign DCA 1986)	nan of Florida, Inc., 492 So.2d 730 (Fla. 4th	.2,11.
AIG Life Insure 4th DCA 19	ance Company v. Boroughf, 588 So.2d 342 (Fla. 991)	3.
Allie v. Ionata,	, 503 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 1987)	12.
	Inc. v. McGuire, 670 So.2d 153 (Fla. 4th DCA	5.
	t Western Bank, 670 So.2d 986 (Fla. 4th DCA	12.
Broward Cour	nty v. LaRosa, 505 So.2d 442 (Fla. 1987)	13.
Cherney v. Mo	oody, 131 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)	12.
	l Communications, Inc. v. Murray, 636 So.2d 818 CA 1994)	8,
	c. v. City of Hollywood, 321 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1975) 1	
	neering, Inc. v. Pate, 563 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 2d 5, 1	11, 13.
Johnson v. Ka	nnwischer, 477 So.2d 1011 (Fla. lst DCA 1985)	13.
Joseph v. Stat	te, 642 So.2d 613 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994)	8.
	<i>Reef Condominium I, Inc.,</i> 614 So.2d 1215 (Fla. 993)	12.
Lindsey v. She	erman, 402 So.2d 1349 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981)	3, 5.
Martin-Johnso	on, Inc. v. Savage, 509 So.2d 1097 (Fla. 1987)	7.
Metropolitan C 314, 9 So.2	Casualty Ins. Co. of New York v. Walker, 151 Fla. 2d 361 (1942)	12.
Norris v. Paps,	, 615 So.2d 735 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)	11.
	hern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company, 448 Fla. 3rd DCA 1984)	13.
	Service, Inc. v. Tallahassee Coca-Cola Bottling p.2d 427 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985)	5.
Remax East Re	ealty, Inc. v. Goodco Properties, 481 So.2d 1281	10.
	c. v. International Control and Lower Measures So.2d 16 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997)	8.
Saracusa v. St	tate, 528 So.2d 520 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988)	8.

-iv- Edward A. Marod, P.A. Post Office Box 3606 West Palm Beach, FL 33402-3606

Initial Brief

*

Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority v. Alderman, 238 So.2d 678 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970)	6.
Shuffler v. Bascom Palmer Eye Institute, 78 So.2d 418	
Spring v. Ronel Refining, Inc., 421 So.2d 46 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982)	5. 6.
Wincast Associates, Inc. v. Hickey, 342 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1977) 6	

OTHER AUTHORITIES

.

*

PAGES

Constitution of the State of Florida, Article I, Section 22	9.
Constitution of the State of Florida, Article V, Section 4	7.
Constitution of the State of Florida (1968 Revision), Article V, Section 5	7.
Fla.Fam.L.R.P. Rule 12.010(b)(1)	9.
Fla.R.App.P. Rule 9.130 4, 5, 14	4.
Fla.R.Civ.P. Rule 1.010	9.
Fla.R.Crim.P. Rule 3.020	9.
Fla.R.Jud.Admin. Rule 2.010	9.
Fla.R.Juv.P. Rule 8.000	9.
Fla.Sm.Cl.R. Rule 7.010(a)	9.
Florida Rules of Traffic Court, Rule 6.020	9.
Matthews, Joseph M., "Is It Possible to Try a \$100,000 Business Case to a Jury Without Bankrupting Yourself and Your Client?" <i>Florida Bar Journal</i> , Volume LXXI, Issue 9, p. 65 (October, 1997)	9.

-v-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is an appeal of a decision rendered September 17, 1997 by the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District, in *Mildred Jaye*, *Petitioner v. Royal Saxon, Inc., Respondent*, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D2199 (Fla. 4th DCA Case No. 97-1864, Opinion Filed September 17, 1997). Appendix (hereinafter "A.") 1. A timely notice invoking this Court's jurisdiction was filed on October 14, 1997. A. 2.

> The decision of the court, *sub judice*, holds: We summarily dismiss the petition for writ of certiorari because the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the challenged order striking Petitioner's demand for jury trial. *See, Bared & Co., Inc. v. McGuire*, 670 So.2d 153, 156 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); *Lindsey v. Sherman*, 402 So.2d 1349, 1349 [sic] (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). We also certify conflict with *Johnson Engineering, Inc. v. Pate*, 563 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); *Quality Coffee Service, Inc. v. Tallahassee Coca-Cola Bottling Co.,* 474 So.2d 427 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), and *Spring v. Ronel Refining, Inc.,* 421 So.2d 46 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982).

App. 1.

This action (Palm Beach County Circuit Court Case No. CL 96-4916 AN, hereinafter "the 96 case") was filed on June 6, 1996 by Royal Saxon, Inc. ("RS") against Mildred Jaye ("Jaye") to collect a special assessment and foreclose the lien of those assessments. App. 5. After an agreed extension of time to plead, App. 46, on July 29, 1996 Jaye filed an Answer, Affirmative Defenses and Motion to Strike, App. 48, as well as a Motion to Transfer and Consolidate with Case No. CL 95-4773-AN ("the 95 case") in which jury trial had been demanded. The trial court, through Hon. James T. Carlisle, on August 22, 1996, granted the motion to transfer the 96 case and deferred ruling on the motion to consolidate, leaving that to the judge in the division to which the case was transferred. App. 53. After transfer, the Hon. Richard Wennet, denied consolidation of the 95 case and the 96 case for trial but granted consolidation for the purposes of discovery. App. 55.

Before the case was set for trial in Judge Wennet's division, but after Judge Wennet denied consolidation of the 96 case with the 95, in order to preserve her rights of setoff and her counterclaim in the 95 case in the event that the 96 case went to trial first, Jaye moved to amend her answer and defenses to add an additional defense and a counterclaim raising these same issues. App. 57. In the proposed amendment, Jaye included a demand for jury trial in the ad damnum clause of the proposed counterclaim. The trial court granted the motion to amend, but only to the extent of permitting the addition of the affirmative defense of setoff. *Id.* (transcript) App. 65 (order). There were no conditions imposed on the grant of leave to amend.

On December 13, 1996, Jaye served her Amended Answer and Affirmative Defenses and Demand for Jury Trial, including for the first time in the 96 case the affirmative defense of setoff for damages suffered by Jaye due to various breaches of statutes, contracts and injunction by RS. This defense injected into this case, for the first time, new issues of fact relating to Jaye's claim that she had suffered monetary damages as a result of wrongful conduct by RS. App. 66. Pursuant to Adler v. Seligman of Florida, Inc., 492 So.2d 730, 733-34 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) rehearing denied, Jaye included in the amended pleading a demand for jury trial. Id.

RS filed a motion to strike the affirmative defense on January 7, 1997. The motion to strike the affirmative defense was granted in part and denied in part. It was denied to the extent that the wording of the affirmative defense was limited to the precise wording which had been included in the draft which had been attached to the motion to amend. but granted to the extent that additional language had been added to explain the precise issues which were being claimed as the basis of the setoff claim. App. 73. After that ruling, Jave filed a separate demand for jury trial, App. 74. RS then filed a motion to strike the demand for jury trial. App. 75. The motion to strike was heard on March 12, 1997, with the trial court requesting the submission of authorities with respect to the issue of the trial court's discretion in granting a demand for jury trial after a case had once been set for trial. The parties then submitted such authorities. App. 104 (Jaye's controlling authorities list with attachments) and App. 119 (RS's submission). After a long period of time in which the matter was under advisement, on April 30, 1997, Judge Wennet granted RS's Motion to Strike the Demand for Jury Trial, without stating the basis of the ruling in any way. App. 124.

Jaye timely served a petition for certiorari with the Florida District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, seeking review of the order striking the demand for jury trial. This was done, notwithstanding the Fourth District's history of denying such petitions under the doctrine of *Lindsey v. Sherman*, 402 So.2d 1349 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) and its progeny in the hope of obtaining a certification of conflict between the position of the Fourth District with respect to its subject matter jurisdiction to review orders relating to the denial of jury trials and the contrary position of its sister courts in the First, Second and Third Districts.¹ As noted above, the petition was summarily dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, but conflict was certified as prayed.

¹ Hope that conflict might be certified was provided by the decision in *AIG Life Insurance Company v. Boroughf*, 588 So.2d 342 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), in which the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, had previously certified the conflict.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The right to trial by jury is a right guaranteed to all citizens by the Constitution of the State of Florida. Indeed, the right to trial by jury is a fundamental right which even predates the constitutions which now govern us. As such a right, its denial, alone, should suffice to present sufficient material injury throughout the balance of the proceedings to give rise to certiorari jurisdiction in the District Courts of Appeal to review orders striking demands for jury trials, or otherwise denying a party the right to a trial by jury where properly demanded.

Besides the fundamental harm presented by the denial of this constitutional right, a party improperly denied the right to trial by jury suffers other harms as well. These harms include the harm attendant upon "showing one's hand" with respect to how the documents and witnesses will be used at trial. The methods by which the evidence will be used can be powerful only once. If denied interlocutory review, these must be used at the first, non-jury trial, as a hedge against affirmance of the decision concerning the right to jury trial. If so used, and a jury trial is ordered, their value will no longer exist at the jury trial.

Furthermore, the cost to the witnesses, parties, lawyers and the courts associated with a second trial cannot be ignored. Where, as here, *de minimis* involvement by a District Court of Appeal can obviate many thousands of dollars of expense to the parties, the witnesses, the courts and the community, the court system's goals of just, speedy and economically adjudication cry for such review to be permitted.

At present, there is a division of authority between the First, Second and Third Districts, which permit certiorari review of orders striking demands for jury trial and the Fourth and Fifth Districts which do not. The fortuity of where one happens to file suit, or be sued, should not determine whether such an important and fundamental right may be denied without any possibility of interlocutory review.

Finally, since there is no practical difference between an order denying trial by jury and an order requiring arbitration, there is no good reason why Rule 9.130 does not contain a provision specifically permitting review of orders denying a demand for jury trial as a matter of right.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER A PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI SEEKING REVIEW OF A TRIAL COURT ORDER STRIKING A DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL IS WITHIN THE JURISDICTION OF A DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

The decision of the court, sub judice, holds:

We summarily dismiss the petition for writ of certiorari because the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the challenged order striking Petitioner's demand for jury trial. *See, Bared & Co., Inc. v. McGuire*, 670 So.2d 153, 156 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); *Lindsey v. Sherman*, 402 So.2d 1349, 1349 [sic] (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). We also certify conflict with *Johnson Engineering, Inc. v. Pate*, 563 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); *Quality Coffee Service, Inc. v. Tallahassee Coca-Cola Bottling Co.*, 474 So.2d 427 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), and *Spring v. Ronel Refining, Inc.*, 421 So.2d 46 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982).

App. 1. As stated within its terms, this holding directly and expressly conflicts with the holdings in *Johnson Engineering, Inc. v. Pate*, 563 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); *Quality Coffee Service, Inc. v. Tallahassee Coca-Cola Bottling Co.*, 474 So.2d 427 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), and *Spring v. Ronel Refining, Inc.*, 421 So.2d 46 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982).²

The reasoning of the Fourth District may be summarized as saying that the denial to a litigant of the constitutionally guaranteed right of a trial by jury does not present a situation which cannot be adequately remedied by reversal on plenary appeal followed by a new trial following the constitutionally mandated procedure. *Lindsey v. Sherman, supra,* [interlocutory order striking demand for jury trial can be rectified by plenary appeal]; *Bared & Co., Inc., v. McGuire, supra,* at 157, fn.3 [to us harm is not irreparable if it can be corrected on final appeal]. Thus, in the geographical area within the territorial jurisdiction of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, the denial of the constitutionally guaranteed right of trial by a jury is considered to be no more significant than the denial of a motion to dismiss a complaint for failure to state a cause of action. Since not made appealable as a matter of right under Fla. R. App. P. Rule 9.130, denials of jury trials to persons constitutionally

²None of these decisions has ever been reversed or disapproved by subsequent opinion of this Court.

entitled to them cannot be reviewed until after a non-jury trial has been foisted upon them, and much of the advantage of a jury trial in the first instance lost.

The District Courts of Appeal for the First, Second and Third Districts analyze the issue somewhat differently. For instance, in *Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority v. Alderman*, 238 So.2d 678 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970), the District Court of Appeal, Second District, held:

> This case illustrates how a basic right such as trial by jury can be litigated almost ancillary to the lesser problem of the appealability of an interlocutory order. We see no constitutional barrier to the grant of common law certiorari under our Florida Constitution, Article V, Section 5(3), where a clear departure from settled principle threatens to prolong litigation needlessly. See 5 Moore's Federal Practice s 39.13. We exercise this constitutional power sparingly, and only in the interest of expediting justice in clear cases. [emphasis added]

Id. at 679-80. Likewise, in *Spring v. Ronel Refining, Inc., supra*, after stating its agreement with the foregoing quote, the Third District Court of Appeal held:

... the denial of the right to jury trial is more than the denial of a constitutional right; it is the denial of a fundamental right recognized prior to the adoption of a written constitution. The right to select the peers to which one's cause will be submitted is unique and indispensable to the adversary system. For this reason, we deem certiorari to be the appropriate remedy in this instance. . . If we are accused of granting special dispensation by the review of this type order, then our critics can take solace in the fact that there will be few instances where litigants will present to us similar problems of such great consequence. [footnote omitted at ellipsis; emphasis added]

421 So.2d 46 at 47-48. The analysis of this issue by the First, Second and Third Districts gives the fundamental right of trial by jury the respect it deserves. The "knee-jerk" analysis of the Fourth District does not.

Although this Court has never spoken directly on the subject of the availability of interlocutory review of an order striking a demand for jury trial, it has, itself, taken jurisdiction to review such orders by common law certiorari. For instance, in *Wincast Associates, Inc., v.* *Hickey*, 342 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1977), this Court granted a petition for a writ of certiorari to review, and reverse, a decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal which had affirmed a trial court's interlocutory order denying the petitioner's request for a jury trial. Thus, even this Court, with far more restricted rules for accepting jurisdiction than the District Courts, has in the past reviewed interlocutory orders concerning a denied demand for jury trial.

While it must be admitted that the case load of the appellate court system has increased since 1977, and that the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court has been restricted even further since then, there has been no change in the constitutional jurisdiction of the District Courts of Appeal in respect of its certiorari jurisdiction since that time. *Compare*, Constitution of the State of Florida, Article V, Section 4, ["A district court of appeal may issue writs of . . . certiorari "] with, Constitution (1968 Revision), Article V, Section 5 ["A district court of appeal may issue writs of . . . certiorari . . ."] Thus, it should be clear that the jurisdiction which existed to permit this Court and the Fourth District Court of Appeal to consider *Wincast Associates, Inc., v. Hickey, supra*, continues to exist today.

In Martin-Johnson, Inc., v. Savage, 509 So.2d 1097, 1099 (Fla. 1987), this Court explained:

A non-final order . . . is reviewable by petition for certiorari only in limited circumstances. The order must depart from the essential requirements of law and thus cause material injury to the petitioner through the remainder of the proceedings below, effectively leaving no adequate remedy on appeal.

That is precisely the situation created by the wrongful denial of a demand for trial by jury in a civil case.

The denial of a demand for jury trial inflicts a tremendous harm on the person who demanded a trial by jury, which cannot be remedied on plenary appeal. The principal such harm, of course, is the denial of fundamental right to a trial by jury, which pre-dates even the adoption of our written constitutions, and which is unambiguously set forth in both the Florida Constitution and the Constitution of the United States. This harm to a constitutionally protected right, alone, should be sufficient to give the District Courts of Appeal jurisdiction for certiorari review. *Clear Channel Communications, Inc. v. Murray,* 636 So.2d 818 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) [certiorari review of allegedly invalid prior restraint in violation of First Amendment right of free speech]; *Rho-Sigma, Inc. v. International Control and Lower Measures Corp.,* 691 So.2d 16 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997) [certiorari review of denial of due process]; *Joseph v. State,* 642 So.2d 613 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) [certiorari review of infringement on First Amendment right of freedom to express religion at trial]; Saracusa v. State, 528 So.2d 520 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) [possible violations of Fourth and Fifth Amendment rights are per se sufficient irreparable harm to invoke certiorari jurisdiction].³

In addition, there is the not insubstantial harm that flows from being forced to "show one's hand" at the first, non-jury trial and the concomitant harm that a well-heeled opponent (like RS, here) can cause between the two trials and at the second one. Although pre-trial procedure has been regulated to the extent of requiring pre-trial disclosure of the identity of witnesses and documents that will be used at trial, the actual use of the documents and the related examination of the witnesses is never fully disclosed before trial. As the Justices of this Court know from their years of trial practice, once the actual use of documents at trial is disclosed, and once a devastating crossexamination has been used, it can never again be as powerful. This is so because opponents in litigation, at a second trial, are able to present their cases in such a way as to avoid the powerful cross, additional documents or witnesses suddenly appear explaining away the documents previously used, and clever lawyers devise attacks on the presentation which had never previously been considered. Thus, this type of advocacy is valuable only once. If forced to "spend" it at a non-jury trial, which must be done to hedge against the possibility that the right to a jury trial will not be upheld on appeal, a party has lost this value, and can never get it back again for the jury trial to which she was constitutionally entitled.

-8-

³ A harm which is a corollary to the first is the risk that, during a nonjury trial, the right to a trial by jury might inadvertently be waived.

In this particular case, there is another harm related to the fact that the witnesses, including Jaye, are not young. Thus, if a jury trial is not granted with respect to the "first go round" of this case, there is a serious risk that neither Jaye nor the others will be around for the second.

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