IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 91,652

MILDRED JAYE,

Petitioner,

VS.

CLERK, SUPPREME COURT Closed Desputity Cherk

JAN 15 1998

FILED SID J. WHITE

ROYAL SAXON, INC.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

(with incorporated appendix)

COLE WHITE & BILLBROUGH, P.A. By: GEOFFREY B. MARKS Attorneys for Respondent Pacific National Bank Building 1390 Brickell Avenue, Third Floor Miami, Florida 33 13 1

Telephone: (305) 350-5320 Facsimile: (305) 373-2294

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

issue. The financial argument simply does not rise to the level of material harm that cannot be cured by plenary appeal.

On Jaye's argument that she may suffer irreparable harm because she will be required to "show her hand", that argument ignores all the parties who successfully present reversible errors to appellate courts where the result is a new trial. Appellate decisions are issued every week where an error in the proceedings is reversed and the appellate court remands for a new trial. See e.g. Kmart v. Kitchen, 697 So.2d 1200 (Fla. 1997); Y.H. Investments v. Godales, 690 So.2d 1273 (1997). While Royal Saxon does not belittle the trial and adversary process and the right of a party to present their case, Jaye's argument cannot seriously be elevated to the irreparable harm standard. Jaye seems to say that a great case will be down graded to a good case if it gets tried twice. Surely this cannot justify the extraordinary relief sought – the argument almost suggests that litigation by surprise should be the norm.

Certiorari review is not accorded every litigant who complains about an adverse non-final ruling. It is an exceptional remedy that requires the district court to invoke its jurisdiction, as opposed to Rule authorized jurisdiction for non-final appeals.

To invoke the certiorari jurisdiction of the district court, a petitioner must show that she will suffer irreparable harm not remedial by plenary appeal. If this jurisdictional threshold is not met, the district court need not consider whether the lower court order departs from the essential requirements of law. An order determining a party's entitlement to a jury trial does not meet the

⁷ Jaye also suggests that irreparable harm could occur because a party, or perhaps more accurately their counsel, would waive some right in a trial proceeding, that could not later be recaptured. Since waiver requires a knowing and voluntarily relinquishment, it defies logic to argue that the waiver could occur accidently, as Jaye seemingly suggests. See <u>American Somax Ventures v. Touma</u>, 547 So.2d 1266, 1268 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) ("Waiver is commonly defined as the intentional or voluntary relinquishment of a known right").

threshold jurisdictional test. An incorrect jury/non-jury determination is remedial by a plenary appeal, and the harm associated with an incorrect ruling is only one of a financial nature. This type of harm does not rise to the jurisdictional level required for certiorari relief. There is no jurisprudential reason to expand certiorari beyond its current limitations. This Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction to review this certified conflict.

B. Jaye's Petition for Writ of Common Law Certiorari was untimely.

Royal Saxon believes that Jaye's petition for writ of common law certiorari was untimely.

Jaye did not seek certiorari review of the disputed issue when it was first raised and disposed of by the trial court. For this reason, this Court can decline to accept jurisdiction of this case.

Jaye was given permission to amend her affirmative defenses on December 3, 1996. Although no mention was made of a jury trial either in the proposed amended affirmative defense, or the hearing on the motion to amend, Jaye included a demand for jury trial with her "retooled" affirmative defense.

Jaye then moved to strike the non-jury trial setting. At the hearing on Jaye's motion, Jaye specifically told the court that a demand for jury trial had been made in the improper amended affirmative defense. Royal Saxon requested the court to defer ruling on the motion to strike non-jury trial setting because Royal Saxon was going to file a motion to strike the improper affirmative defense.

Royal Saxon then moved to strike the "retooled" affirmative defense, and the trial court granted the motion, but deemed Jaye's original proposed affirmative defense filed as of February 14, 1997. The trial court's February 14, 1997, order had all the effect and impact of striking Jaye's demand for a jury trial, which was part and parcel of the improper amended affirmative

defense. There is no doubt that the "issue" of jury trial had been presented to the court, and the February 14, 1997, order disposed of Jaye's demand.

Propriety of the right to seek non-final review aside, Jaye was obligated to seek such certiorari review within 30 days of February 14, 1997. Jaye did not seek review of that order, which was the first time the court disposed of the-jury trial issue in this case. Jaye sought review of the subsequent order striking her separately filed demand for jury trial. Accordingly, Jaye's petition for writ of common law certiorari of the later order striking her demand for jury trial was untimely where the issue had already been disposed of by the trial court in the February 14 order striking her improper affirmative defense.

Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.100(c) dictates that a petition for writ of common law certiorari must be filed within 30 days of rendition of the order to be reviewed. As succinctly stated by the Fourth District Court of Appeal:

Any petition for writ of certiorari should have been filed after the first order denying the motion for protective order. Petitioner cannot evade the time requirements of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.1 00(c) by filing successive motions addressed to the same issue. We liken this to the filing of a motion for rehearing from a non-final order which does not toll rendition. See McGee v. McGee, 487 So.2d 412 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986).

Bensonhurst Drywall, Inc. v. Ledesma, 583 So.2d 1094 (Fla. 4thDCA 1991); see Princess Cruises, Inc. v. Edwards, 611 So.2d 598 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). Certiorari review, if allowed at all, must be sought when an issue is first disposed of by the trial court.

Jaye announced to the trial court at the hearing on her motion to strike non-jury trial setting that she was attempting to assert a demand for jury trial. Royal Saxon recognized this improper attempt and advised the trial court that it would file a motion to strike the improper affirmative defense which raised the jury trial issue. The trial court subsequently struck the

affirmative defense which raised the jury trial issue. There is no doubt that Jaye was completely aware of her actions. She had asserted a jury trial issue which was disposed of by the trial court on February 14, 1997. Jaye was obligated to seek review of this order within 30 days of its rendition.

Instead, Jaye waited until the issue was brought to the trial court and disposed of a second time. Jayes' subsequent petition for writ of common law certiorari seeking review of the April 30, 1997 order was untimely. The issue disposed of by that order had already been addressed by the trial court. Jaye should not be permitted to evade the time requirements of Rule 9.1 00(c) by filing successive motions addressed to the same issue. Accordingly, her petition for writ of common law certiorari was untimely, and this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction to review this matter.

C. If the order denying Jaye's demand for jury trial is subject to certiorari review, the issue must first be disposed of by the Fourth District. Alternatively, Jaye is not entitled to a jury trial on her affirmative defense of "set-off".

Should this Court create a new field of interlocutory appeals by permitting certiorari review of orders determining a party's entitlement to a jury trial in civil commercial cases, at a minimum this Court needs to remand this case to the Fourth District to address the petitioner's claim on the merits. Since the Fourth District dismissed the petition for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, that court should have the opportunity to address the petitioner's arguments concerning whether she is entitled to a jury trial.

Alternatively, if this Court chooses to address the merits of petitioner's case, it should conclude that she is not entitled to a jury trial on the affirmative defense of set off. This conclusion can be based both on the procedural posturing that petitioner engaged in, and a

substantive analysis that her set off claim is fully covered in the already pending "balcony" counterclaim.

Royal Saxon did not demand a jury trial in its lien foreclosure case, despite a count for monetary damages based on section 719.303, Florida Statutes. Likewise, Jaye did not request an jury trial in her answer and affirmative defenses.

When Jaye moved to amend her answer and affirmative defenses and also sought leave to add a counterclaim, no mention of a jury trial was made in the proposed amended pleading. After the case was set for non-jury trial, Jaye had her amendment motion heard by the trial court. At no time in that hearing did Jaye make mention that she was going to demand a jury trial on any of the amendment issues.

Only after being given leave to amend her affirmative defenses — with the counterclaim amendment being denied — did Jaye raise the issue of jury trial. Only then, and in the context of an affirmative defense that grossly exceeded what had been represented to the trial court and the parties as the amendment, did Jaye assert a demand for a jury trial.

In this procedural posture, Jaye has played games with the trial court and Royal Saxon. The simple fact of the matter is that Jaye twice waived a demand for a jury trial. It was not asserted in either Jaye's original answer or affirmative defenses, or the proposed amended affirmative defenses and proposed counterclaim.

Jaye now explains the posturing by asserting that her demand for jury trial was timely under the authority of Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.430(b). Jaye argues further that her amended affirmative defense of set off injected a new issue into the case thereby reviving the time for filing a demand for jury trial.

As to the former, Jaye would have the Court condone her conduct in seeking amendment of pleadings. The amendment that Jaye interjected in this case is a verbatim recitation of her counterclaim against Royal Saxon. The fact that Jaye did not demand a jury trial in her proposed amended pleading or counterclaim speaks volumes on what her true intentions were with regard to the jury trial issue in this lien foreclosure case. Jaye had no intention of making a demand for a jury trial to Royal Saxon's lien foreclosure case.

As to the latter, Royal Saxon need only point to Jaye's own pleadings to refute the argument that a new issue was raised. Jaye's affirmative defense of set-off (in its disallowed form) is a nearly verbatim recitation of Jaye's pending counterclaim in the "balcony" lawsuit. Jaye did not inject any new issues in the parties' litigation.

What is missing from the picture is Jaye availing herself of Rule 1.270(b). That rule permits the trial court "in furtherance of convenience or to avoid prejudice . . . to order a separate trial of any claim, . . . counterclaim, . . . or of any separate issue or of any number of claims . . . or issues." The application of the "set-off' issue could have been disposed of in a separate trial, which is in fact precisely what Jaye plead in the counterclaim against Royal Saxon that remains pending today. See Wincast Associates v. Hickey, 342 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1977) (if all facets of a dispute cannot be settled at one time due to a demand for a jury trial, the trial judge can still determine non-jury factual issues unrelated to the jury issues, and thereby limit the scope of the jury trial, in accordance with Rule 1.270(b)); Penmont Enters., Inc. v. Dysart, 340 So.2d 1285 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) (a non-jury trial of foreclosure claim prior to jury trial of legal issues presented in counterclaim did not deprive defendant of legal right).

The jury trial issue in this case was a red herring whose sole purpose was to delay the lien foreclosure case. From Jaye's pleading waiver of a jury trial demand to Jaye's procedural

posturing, one can only conclude that the jury trial issue is a sham that neither addresses the substantive dispute between the parties, or is designed to advance the resolution of this case. See Southeast Aluminum Supply Corp. v. Plastics N. American, Inc., 413 So.2d 440 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) (trial court did not abuse discretion in denying demand for a jury trial when leave to file amended pleading was conditioned on trial not being delayed by request for jury trial). In a nutshell, Jaye has failed to meet the "departure from the essential requirements of law" standard of review.

Almost as an afterthought, and at the end of her initial brief, Jaye makes the conclusion that an order determining a party's entitlement to arbitration is analogous to an order determining a party's entitlement to a jury trial. As Jaye argues, there should be certiorari review of jury trial orders because there is non-final Rule based review of arbitration orders. See Fla.R.App.P. 9.130 (a)(3)(C)(v). There is a world of difference between the two.

First, and as demonstrated <u>infra</u>, there is a significant distinction between the non-final order Rule and certiorari review. The two may be conterminous, but they are not interchangeable.

Second, the right of a party to invoke arbitration is always found in a statute or governing document. The same cannot be said for the right to a jury trial. In fact, the right to a jury trial is traditionally governed by common law. While there are modern statutes that mandate a jury trial, see section 760.07, Florida Statutes (employment discrimination), jury trial issues usually arise in disputes over whether the common law allowed for such disposition. See Art. I, § 22, Florida Constitution ("The right to jury trial by jury shall be secured to all and remain inviolate."); <u>Dudlev v. Harrison, McCready & Co., 1</u>27 Fla. 687, 173 So. 820 (1937) (The right to jury trial is preserved in all cases in which such right was enjoyed at the time Florida's

Constitution became effective in 1845.). Whereas the issue of a party's entitlement to arbitration is usually found in black and white, the issue of entitlement to a jury trial is often in a gray area.

Third, once a party is required to proceed through arbitration, a completely different standard of review and reviewing court exists then from circuit court jury non-jury proceedings. See e.g. Chapter 682, Fla. Stat.; § 718.1255, Fla. Stat. As the court can see, the analogy that Jaye draws is inapposite. Arbitration non-final orders have nothing in common with jury trial orders.

Finally, Jaye concludes by asking this Court to follow its prior decision in Wincast Associates, Inc. v. Hickey, 342 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1977), where the Court granted a petition for writ of certiorari to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The trial court had denied a request for jury trial, which was subsequently upheld by the Fourth District.

When <u>Hickey</u> was written, in party could seek continuous in this Court. r to no longer has constitutional power to issue writs of common law certiorari. See <u>Haines City Community Develonment v. Heggs</u>, 658 So.2d 523,525 n.2 (Fla. 1995). Thus, the Court cannot accommodate Jaye's request to follow <u>Hickey</u> because this Court no longer issues writs of common law certiorari. Given the constitutional change in this Court's jurisdiction, the result should not be a disposition of the merits of Jaye's claim.

<u>Hickev</u> really stands for the proposition that a mixture of the two kinds of claims in the same case, regardless of the parties by whom or the sequence in which they are raised by their respective pleadings, cannot deprive either of the parties of a right to a jury trial of issues traditionally triable by jury as a matter of right. As we have demonstrated, Jaye has her "set-off" affirmative defense plead as a counterclaim in the related litigation between the parties. The suggestion that there is a "mixture" of legal and equitable claims in the lien foreclosure case is

not supported by the record, which demonstrates that Jaye has plead her set-off affirmative defense as a counterclaim, and demanded jury trial in that lawsuit.

From both a procedural and substantive analysis, this court should conclude that Jaye is not entitled to a jury trial in the lien foreclosure case.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authority the respondent, Royal Saxon, Inc. respectfully requests that this Court decline to accept jurisdiction to review the certified conflict. Alternatively, the respondent respectfully requests that this Court hold that an order rejecting a demand for a jury trial is not subject to certification.

COLE WHITE & BILLBROUGH, P.A.

Attorneys for Respondent
Pacific National Bank Building
1390 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 3 3 13 1

Telephone: (305) 350-5320 Facsimile: (305) 373-2294

GEOFFREY B. MARKS

Fla. Bar No.: 714860